1961

# State of Utah v. Theodore Samuel Pacheco : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal brought by the Appellant from a verdict of guilty rendered by a jury on the counts of 2nd Degree Burglary and Grand Larceny.

The facts offered at trial were that Defendant together with two co-defendants were apprehended in the Payless Builders Supply approximately 1:30 a.m. on the 12th day of December, 1960. Further, that there was missing out of the cash box the sum of \$124.67; none of which was found in the possession of the Defendant at the time he was apprehended.

Approximately three hours before the apprehension, one Gerald D. Shelton, co-defendant, notified a member of the Salt Lake City Police Department, namely, Gary Parks, that a burglary was to be committed at the Ream's Bargain Basement located at 2700 South State Street, Salt Lake City, Utah. After notifying Gary Parks, Gerald D. Shelton went looking for the Defendant-Appellant and located him at a house belonging to the Defendant's fiancé. Shortly thereafter, the Defendant, Gerald D. Shelton and Johnny Murkham went down to Ream's Bargain Basement, but no crime offense was committed. Having decided not to commit the crime, the three went to the Payless Builders Supply. Enroute, they stopped at a gas station at the request of Gerald D. Shelton. At that point, Shelton gave the attendant a slip of paper bearing Gary Park's home phone number and informed the attendant that he was an undercover agent for the Salt Lake Police Department and to call the number on the slip of paper and to say "the Payless Lumber the time has been changed." After the Defendant left, the attendant called the number and a woman answered.

The woman indicated that she knew nothing of the situation. Whereupon, the attendant called the Salt Lake Police Department and released the information. Shortly thereafter, Gary Parks, in the company of Sheriff Pete Haywood, Salt Lake City Sheriff Department, arrived and took possession of the piece of paper. From the gas station they proceeded up to Payless Builders Supply and apprehended the Defendant-Appellant and co-defendants.

This appeal raises for review by this court, three questions of law:

#### POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S TO DISMISS THE SECOND COUNT OF THE INFORMATION, TO WIT: GRAND LARCENCY, ON THE GROUNDS THAT THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF THAT CHARGE.

#### POINT II

TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ALLOWING THE JURY TO SEPARATE AFTER THE CASE WAS SUBMITTED TO THEM FOR THEIR DELIBERATION.

#### POINT III

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY THE JURY IN FINDING THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF SECOND DEGREE BURGLARY AND GRAND LARCENY ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE EVIDENCE SHOWED THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS ENTRAPED INTO THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME.



## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S TO DISMISS THE SECOND COUNT OF THE INFORMATION, TO WIT: GRAND LARCENY, ON THE GROUNDS THAT THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF THAT CHARGE.

Grand Larceny is defined in Utah Code Annotated (1953) 76-38-1 and 4 as "The felonious stealing, taking, carrying, leading or drawing away of personal property of another." Said property taken is of the value exceeding \$50.00.

The testimony produced at trial indicated that the cash box contained \$124.67 (R. 37). Also, the evidence adduced by the State indicated that the sum of \$80.00 was taken from Johnny Markham (R. 66), and that the sum of \$50.00 was found to be in the possession of Gerald D. Shelton (R. 135). No money was found on the Defendant's person (R. 54, R. 78, R. 108). It was further borne out at trial that the money was never taken from the premises of the Payless Builders Supply.

Possession under the above quoted section has been construed as meaning personal, conscious, and exclusive

possession. *State vs. Dyitt*, 114 Utah 379, 199 P. 2d 155 (1948); *State vs. Brooks* (1942), 101 Utah 584, 126 P. 2d 1044. There was no evidence elicited to the effect that the Defendant had possession of any of the monies taken from the cash box. Further, the fact that the participants of the crime were apprehended in the very room where the money was kept, the money had not yet been reduced to the exclusive possession of any of the participants.

It is respectfully submitted that possession must be of the type inconsistent with the possession of the true owner and until said property is taken from the premises or room, the possession of the participants is not sufficient to warrant exclusive domination of the property.

Not having found proof proving exclusive possession on the part of the Defendant, the trial court relied upon the theory of principals (R. 80), i.e., possession of those who are found to have aided and abetted is sufficient possession. This application of the theory is an erroneous application of the law. As the record abundantly illustrates, Gerald D. Shelton cannot be said to have assumed the role of an accomplice. In the case of *Wilson vs. People* (1939), 103 Colo. 441, 87 P. 2d 5, 120 A.L.R. 1501, the court cites *Price vs. People*, 109 Ill. 109, P. 115, 116, wherein Defendant contacted the constable, giving true names and place, time, and name of intended victim. After the crime, he went and furnished the particulars of the crime. The court held:

“That a sane person really guilty of committing a grave crime would thus act is so inconsistent with all human experience as not to warrant the conviction of anyone under the circumstances shown.”

The record clearly shows that he executed every effort to contact the police of the change in plans and also was instructed by Gary Parks, Salt Lake Police Department, to go along with planned burglary. The record is void of any intent on the part of Gerald D. Shelton to commit the crime of burglary and grand larceny. Query: Can the Defendant be charged with the aiding and abetting of another participant when the latter cannot be found to possess the requisite intent or possession necessary for the commission of the crime. It is submitted that the only answer is no.

## POINT II

TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ALLOWING THE JURY TO SEPARATE AFTER THE CASE WAS SUBMITTED TO THEM FOR THEIR DELIBERATION.

The trial court permitted the jury to separate for the noon hour from 12:00 p.m. to 1:30 p.m. (R. 161). The separation occurred without the consent of the Defendant and after the closing arguments of the State and the Defense (R. 161). The instructions to the jury preceded the closing arguments (R. 152, 161).

Utah law in this area is largely derived from statutes wherein the Trial Court is instructed as to the proper supervision over the jury.

Utah Code Annotated 77-31-27 (1953 as amended) states: "The jurors sworn to try a criminal action may, at any time before submission of the case to the jury, in the discretion of the Court, be permitted to separate or be kept in charge of a proper officer" . . . The statutes are silent as to separation of the jury after submission.

Directing our attention to what constitutes "submission", we find that the general rule is that where charges precede the arguments, submission occurs at the close of the argument. 34 A.L.R. 1212. *People vs. Von Maltic* (1931), 119 Cal. App. 568, 5 P. 2d 917; *Evans vs. State* (1924), .....Okla. Cr. Rep., .....221 P. 794. This would be applicable in the instant case.

Generally, in felony criminal cases, prejudice is presumed from the fact if an unauthorized separation after submission, at least where the circumstances are such as to make it reasonably appear that the jury might have been tampered with. 53 Am. Jur. Sec. 879.

It should be noted that although there does exist a statute allowing the Trial Court, in its discretion, to permit the jury to separate before submission, there is no statute which allows this discretion after the case

has been finally submitted to the jury. Can it be successfully advanced that the Trial Court has the implied authority to that concerning which the law is silent? This precise question confronted North Dakota courts in 1932 and the court clearly indicated that a statute similar to that found in Utah is the only statute which gives the court the authority to separate jurors and that the trial court does not obtain the implied authority to separate the jury. *State vs. Tamoreaux* (1932, 241 N.D. 595).

Utah Code Annotated (1953), 77-31-32, states:

“After hearing the charge, the jury may either decide in court or may retire for deliberation. If they do not agree without retiring, an officer must be sworn to keep them together in some private and convenient place, and not to permit any person to speak to or communicate with them, nor to do so himself, unless by order of the court, or to ask them whether they have agreed upon a verdict, and to return them into court when they have so agreed, or when ordered by the court.”

This statute has been wisely interpreted to safeguard in every possible way the purity of the stream of justice; and to prevent it from in any manner being polluted by influences other than those which are produced by the legal evidence and the law governing the case. *Bilton vs. Territory* (1909), 1 Okl. Cr. 566, 99 P. 163.

Again, in *Armstrong vs. State* (1909), 2 Okla. Cr. 567, 103 Pac. 658, 24 L.R.A. (N.S.) 776, the court stated that this section imperatively required that the jury cannot be separated after submission and, if such separation is permitted, the verdict is vitiated notwithstanding no affirmative proof of prejudice is offered. The court further stated:

“When this provision of law is violated, the legal presumption is that it has actually prejudiced the Defendant, or tended to his prejudice, in respect to a substantial right.”

Thus, it would appear that the Defendant’s substantial rights had been violated by the trial court’s permitting the separation of the jury after the cause had been finally submitted.

The precise question here on appeal is a novel one. In *State vs. Thorne* (1911), 39 U. 208, 117 P. 58, the question presented dealt with the misconduct of a juror who made unauthorized telephone conversation to someone without the court’s permission. The court properly said:

“After a final submission to the jury and before reaching a decision as to their verdict, to permit a juror without court’s permission to leave his fellow jurors and to go to another portion of

the building and there engage in a private conversation over the telephone is a practice not to be tolerated.”

Again, in *State vs. Jarrett* (1947), 112 Utah 335, 187 P. 2d 547, this court held that it was not reversible error to deny the motion for new trial on the grounds that some of the jurors separated without leave of the court. The separation was based upon necessity and under the surveillance of the Baliff. The court further states that it is conversation with third parties that are condemned and that the Defendant has a right to have a jury secluded from outside influences while deliberating and that this right should be jealously guarded.

It cannot be said that trial court, in permitting the jury to separate after all of the evidence had been submitted, after the instructions were delivered and after arguments of counsel, jealously guarded the Defendant's right to have the jury secluded from outside influences. Concededly, absolute isolation is not reasonably possible. *State vs. Jarrett*, supra. Yet, it is unreasonable to allow separation for lunch after submission without supervision of the Baliff in view of the Utah statute permitting the jurors to be provided with food. See UCA 77-32-1. It cannot be successfully maintained that during the hour and a half lunch period that none of the jurors had any conversations with third persons.

## POINT III

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY THE JURY IN FINDING THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF SECOND DEGREE BURGLARY AND GRAND LARCENY ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE EVIDENCE SHOWED THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS ENTRAPED INTO THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME.

Although the doctrine of entrapment is found to exist in all the jurisdictions in the country, there does exist a divergence of views as the basis upon which this doctrine lies. *Serrells vs. United States*, 287 U.S. 435, 53 S. Ct. 210, 77 L. 2d 413, wherein the purported basis was founded upon statutory constriction. Later in *Sherman vs. U.S.* (1958), 356 U.S. 332, 78 S. Ct. 819, 2 L. Ed. 2 448, the language of the majority indicates that the majority is thinking in terms of Supreme Court's supervisory function over the administration of criminal justice in the Federal Court or in terms of a violation of the constitution protected right. See 49 *Journ. Crim. Law* 449 (1959).

This court as early as 1912 established the policy that this court would, and properly so, carefully scrutinize the evidence the offense was induced by, so-called private detectives and informers. Chief Justice Frick in *City vs. Robinson* (1912), 40 Utah 448, 125 Pac. 667, 661 stated:



“When it is made to appear that an offense charged was induced by a detective or other or that such detective or person was paid for obtaining the evidence necessary to convict, or that he is to receive additional compensation in case of conviction, both the prosecuting officers and the trial courts should carefully scrutinize the evidence and should permit no conviction to be had, or if had, to stand in case the offense was induced as aforesaid, and in case of paid evidence none should be permitted to stand if there is any doubt of the guilt of the accused.”

Nine years later, this court endorsed the principles set forth by Chief Justice Frick in a unanimous opinion in *State vs. McComish* (1921), 59 Utah 58, 201 P. 637, rehearing denied 1921, wherein the court added:

“Policemen are conservators of the peace. It is their duty to prevent crime, not to instigate or encourage its commission. Nothing is more reprehensible than to induce the commission of crime for the purpose of apprehending and convicting the perpetrator.”

In denying the petition for rehearing, the court reiterated its position by stating:

“The rule that officers of the law are not permitted to induce acts constituting crimes which would not have been committed but for such inducement and that convictions based upon such inducement will not be permitted to stand, is both wholesome and saluting once should be enforced.”

Thus, it would appear that this court bases the doctrine of entrapment on the same grounds as is found in the *Sherman* case, *supra*, and properly so, inasmuch as the same policy bases for reversal of a judgment as is found in judicial supervision of contempts, or to exclude illegally seized evidence or coerced confessions, to wit:

“Judicial supervision of administration of criminal justice in Federal courts implies the duty of establishing and maintaining civilized standards of procedure.” *McNabb vs. U.S.*, 318 U.S. 332 (1943). Also, see *Jones vs. State* (1960), 101 Ga. 851, 101 Ga. 851, 115 S.E. 2d 576, wherein the court stated:

“Prosecutor’s conduct falls short of the high standards that must be set by law enforcement officers in administration of justice in the sovereign state of Georgia and we cannot approve of it.”

This attitude is abundantly exhibited in one of our sister states, namely, California, where the court stated in *People vs. Makovsky* (1935), Cal. 2d 366, 44 P. 2d 536, *People vs. Cahan* (1955), 44 Cal. 2d 434, 282 P. 2d 905, 50 A.L.R. 2d 513, and *People vs. Bevford* (1959), 53 Cal. 2d 1, 345 P. 2d 928. An excellent discussion is found in the latter case where the court through Justice Schauer stated that California has recognized the defense for reasons substantially similar to those which cause the adoption of the rule that evidence obtained in violation of constitutional guarantees is not admissible, i.e.:

“Without regard for its own dignity, and in the exercise of its power and performance of its duty to formulate and apply proper standard for judicial enforcement of criminal law, the court refuses to enable officers of the law to consummate illegal or unjust schemes designed to foster rather than prevent and detect crime.” P. 933.

Thus, it would appear that this court has assumed the supervisory role over the administration of justice in our state and will not permit any conviction to be had where there exists any doubt of the guilt of the accused. *City vs. Robinson*, supra. An analysis of the record below clearly indicates a substantial doubt as to the guilt of the defendant-appellant, and further that the evidence abundantly shows that defense of entrapment was clearly proven as a matter of law. Under such circumstances, this court may so declare and reverse the judgment of the jury. *Sherman vs. U.S.*, supra, *Accardi vs. U.S.* (1958), 257 F. 2d 168 (5 Cir.). Where it was held that the issue of entrapment is a question for the jury, unless as a matter of law the accused has established beyond a reasonable doubt that he was entrapped. This criteria places a great burden upon the Defendant than exists this jurisdiction.

Gerald D. Shelton was working for the Salt Lake Police Department through Gary Parks (R. 123, R. 124); he was securing compensation by means of reimbursed gas expenses (R. 124); he was permitted to operate his vehicle despite the fact that his license was revoked

(R. 123); he notified Gary Parks of the proposed burglary at Ream's Bargain Basement and told that he would be protected (R. 122); he was on pre-arranged bond (R. 99, R. 123). On the night in question, he went seeking the Defendant (R. 151, 152) and asked that the Defendant accompany him (R. 104). The Defendant had no intention of committing any crime; he had made other arrangements (R. 150, 151). It was upon the insistence of Gerald D. Shelton that the Defendant accompanied him on the night in question. Further, it was at Gerald D. Shelton's insistence that the automobiles be switched (R. 105, 125). Arriving at Ream's Bargain Basement, the Defendant refused to follow Gerald Shelton's instructions (R. 106). Whereupon, again at Gerald D. Shelton's request (R. 106), the Defendant drove to Pay-less Builder's Supply where the crime was committed. Just prior to this, Gerald D. Shelton had placed a note in the hands of a gas station attendant, said station being enroute, with instructions to call the police (R. 145, 106; R. 143, 146).

Considering all of of the circumstances elicited on the lower court, it is clear that the commission of the crime with which the Defendant was convicted was the "product of the creative ability" of one Gerald D. Shelton who, by the evidence adduced, was working for the Police Department. *Sherman vs. U.S.*, 356 U.S. 369, 78 S. Ct. 819, 2 L. Ed. 2d 448, states:

“To determine whether entrapment has been established, a line must be drawn between the trap for the unwary innocent and a trap for the unwary criminal.”

There is no evidence that the Defendant was engaged in any unlawful business, or that the Defendant possessed a pre-existing criminal intent. *People vs. Malotte* (1956), 46 Cal. 2d 59, 292, P. 2d 517; *People vs. Terry* (1955), 44 Cal. 2d 371, 282 P. 2d 19.

Nor is it clear that this court would permit such evidence to be allowed. Our sister state expressly distinguished the Federal Rule and California rule in this regard by stating:

“In California, Evidence that Defendant had previously committed similar crimes or had reputation of being engaged in the commission of such crimes or was suspected by police of criminal activities is not admissible on issue of entrapment.” *People vs. Beuford*, *supra*.

To allow the conviction below to stand, would be to endorse the practices of the law enforcement officials to resort to the utilization of known felons and devious methods to apprehend unwary citizens. The initial contact and negotiations for corruption come from the undercover agent, Gerald D. Shelton. The obstacles by use of agent's automobile was removed by the agent. The police were informed of the time and place of ultimate incident, a situation similar to that found in *Jones*

vs. *State*, supra. Mere willingness to be corrupted cannot be sufficient. The public policy against such conduct has been clearly established. Judicial integrity can only be protected by sustaining the appellant's claim for entrapment.

### CONCLUSION

The record below clearly indicated that the court committed error in not sustaining the Defendant's motion to dismiss on the second count, to wit, Grand Larceny.

Further, the court committed reversible error in permitting the jury to separate after the cause had been finally submitted to them for their deliberation.

The evidence adduced at trial clearly establishes substantial doubt as to the guilt of the accused and points out the reprehensible methods employed by the law enforcement officials in regards to apprehension and conviction of the Defendant.

The Defendant-Appellant for reasons aforesaid respectfully requests that the conviction of the Defendant be reversed.