1962

State of Utah v. Theodore Samuel Pacheco : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

The appellant, Theodore Samuel Pacheco, was charged and convicted of grand larceny and second degree burglary, in violation of 76-38-1-4, U.C.A. 1953, and 76-9-3, U.C.A. 1953, respectively, in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, on 3 May, 1961, and now appeals from that conviction.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

A verdict finding the appellant guilty of the crimes of grand larceny and second degree burglary was returned by the jury on 3 May, 1961, and appellant was committed to the State Prison on 4 May, 1961.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the convictions alleging the evidence is insufficient to sustain the conviction of larceny, and that the burglary conviction should be vitiated by virtue of juror misconduct and a claim of entrapment; the State contends no basis for reversal exists of record.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent, State of Utah, will adopt the appellant's Statement of Facts, but will supplement the statement in rebuttal to the points of argument raised by the appellant where necessary for clarification.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE LARCENY CONVICTION.

POINT II.

THE COURT DID NOT LET THE JURY SEPARATE AFTER DELIBERATION, AND THE APPELLANT HAS WAIVED ANY RIGHT TO OBJECT.

POINT III.

NO EVIDENCE OF ENTRAPMENT EXISTS WARRANTING REVERSAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE LARCENY CONVICTION.

The appellant contends that there is insufficient evidence of record to sustain the conviction of larceny of the money from the Payless Builders Supply Co. The basis of the contention is that there is no showing that the appellant had possession of any of the money at the time he was searched at the scene. It appears that the trial judge denied the appellant's motion to dismiss on the theory that the accomplices' possession was sufficient. (R. 123). The defendant contends that since one of the appellant's co-participants, Gerald D. Shelton, did not intend to commit a crime, that his acts cannot be imputed to the appellant and, therefore, the evidence of possession is not sufficient of record.

At the outset it is to be noted that exclusive, conscious "possession," as such, is not itself an element of the crime of larceny, but is merely evidentiary under 76-38-1, U.C.A. 1953, of the required element of the "taking" of possession. The possession is indicative of the asportation and the taking of possession, which are the essential elements of larceny. *People v. Gillis*, 6 Utah 84, 21 Pac. 404 (1889); Clark & Marshall, Crimes, 6th Ed. (1958), p. 706, et seq. The absence of possession also may be some indication of the absence of taking possession. The cases of *State v. Dyett*, 114 Utah 379, 199 P.2d 155 (1948) and *State v. Brooks*, 101 Utah 584, 126 P.2d 1044 (1942), cited by the appellant, are material

only if possession is the only evidence of record sufficient to show an actual taking by the appellant. The record shows that Gerald D. Shelton testified to the appellant's taking possession of some of the money; he testified as follows: (R. 177).

“Q. Now there was a small cash box, a metal cash box there, was there not?

A. Yes, there was.

* * *

Q. Who opened that cash box?

A. I think Markham tried to open it. I had my back turned because Ted was going through some papers in this other drawer. I think Markham tried to open it and I was holding it when he opened it.

Q. Did you open that cash box?

A. No, I did not.

Q. Did you take any money out of it and give it to Markham?

A. I took a bunch of envelopes out of it that Ted said there was some money in, and Markham took some of it and *Ted took some of it* and I took some of it.”

Thus the evidence directly shows that some of the money was actually taken by the appellant. The appellant contends that since there was no showing at the time he was searched by the police at the premises burglarized, that he had possession of any of the money, that it indicates a non-taking. This is not adequately supported by the record, for at the time the appellant was searched, the police were not looking for any money, but rather for a

weapon. Thus, David T. Hill, a private policeman, testified: (R. 97).

“Q. Now you indicated that you, together with another officer, did have the occasion to search the defendant in this case?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And is it also your testimony that you found only a small pocket knife together with some keys?

A. No—I didn’t say keys. The only thing, as I recall, that I took off the man was the small pocket knife. I don’t remember exactly how long it was. It was a small pocket knife. I don’t even remember how many blades. *The only thing I was looking for at the time—and I shook him good—was some type of weapon.* That was the only thing I took from the fellow.”

In addition, Officer Don G. Ferguson testified that he only “frisked” the appellant. (R. 121). Therefore, there is nothing to overwhelmingly rebut Gerald D. Shelton’s testimony that the appellant took some of the money. Even if it is assumed that at the time he was searched he had none of the \$124.67 that was taken in his possession, it still does not rebut the taking, since he could have gotten rid of it or given it to the third accomplice, Johnny Markham. This would have been sufficient asportation to satisfy that element of the crime. *People v. Gillis*, supra; Clark & Marshall, Crimes, 6th Ed. (1958), p. 738. Under these circumstances, the evidence of taking possession is sufficient to sustain the conviction.

Even if it were determined that the evidence is insufficient to demonstrate an actual taking of a sufficient amount for grand larceny by the appellant himself, it is submitted that the trial court correctly ruled on the issue of imputing the conduct of the accomplices to the appellant. In *People v. Collins*, 53 Cal. 185 (1878), the court held that one who merely pretends to aid another in order to get evidence is not guilty of burglary and an entry by that person cannot be imputed to the other. In *People v. Lanzit*, 70 Cal. App. 498, 233 Pac. 816 (1924), the court said, with reference to imputation of conduct by a feigned accomplice to an accused:

“It is of course necessary that the defendant should have directly participated in so much of the entire transaction that the acts which he himself personally committed shall alone be sufficient to make out a complete offense against the law; for no act of the feigned accomplice may be imputed to him, and if in order to constitute the offense, it is necessary that something done by the supposed confederate shall be imputed to the accused, then the prosecution will fail.”

To the same effect is *State v. Jansen*, 22 Kan. 498, and in *United States v. Buck*, 3 U.S.C.M.A. 341, 12 CMR 97 (1953), Chief Justice Quinn writing the opinion for the Court of Military Appeals, said:

“It is necessary to show that he participated in every essential act necessary to constitute the crime, however, *for obviously no act of the decoy can be imputed to him*, because they do not share a common criminal intent or purpose. The one intends a crime, while the other seeks only to apprehend the criminal.”

See also Perkins, Criminal Law, p. 921-2.

The essential factor of these cases is that the acts of a decoy or feigned accomplice may not be imputed to the defendant. In this case, the acts of Gerald D. Shelton cannot be imputed to the appellant under this theory; however, Johnny Markham was not a feigned accomplice or decoy; he was an actual accomplice with the appellant, and, hence, because appellant and Markham had a common purpose and intent, their acts are imputable to each other. By the appellant's own testimony (R. 157), he and Markham intended to take money from the Payless Builders Supply and entered for that purpose. There was a unity of intent and action between appellant and Markham, and appellant testified the money was given to Markham. (R. 158). When Markham was searched, the sum of \$80.70 was taken from him (R. 109), and the above quoted testimony of Shelton and appellant's own testimony supports Markham having taking some of the Payless money. Since Markham's actions are not those of the decoy, they may be imputed to appellant and suffice to support the conviction for larceny.

POINT II.

THE COURT DID NOT LET THE JURY SEPARATE AFTER DELIBERATION, AND THE APPELLANT HAS WAIVED ANY RIGHT TO OBJECT.

The appellant's contention that the court allowed the jury to separate after submission of the case to the jury is not well taken for it assumes that the case was

in fact submitted to the jury prior to their separation for lunch.

The only reference in the record to the alleged separation of the jury shows that after the charge and arguments of counsel, the court addressed the jury as follows: (R. 204).

“THE COURT: Mrs. Gunn, and gentlemen of the jury, as you have observed I am trying two cases here in effect at once. I have this other coming at two o'clock and I have to have a noon hour, and in order to have it I can't wait here while you are deliberating. So I am going to excuse you for your noon hour. I'm going to excuse you until 1:30 this afternoon and ask that you return at that time, and that you very carefully keep in mind your conduct, as I have indicated is your duty, and at that time I will send you out to deliberate on the issues in this matter.”

No objection to the court's actions was voiced by the appellant. 77-31-27, U.C.A. 1953, provides:

“The jurors sworn to try a criminal action may, at any time before the submission of the case to the jury, in the discretion of the court be permitted to separate or be kept in charge by a proper officer.”

The important part of the statute is the word “submission.” If the case is automatically submitted to the jury after charge and argument, without further action of the court, then the appellant's contention that separation occurred after submission may be correct. However, if submission of the case does not occur until the judge directs the jury to their deliberations, then the jury

in the instant case could not have been said to have separated subsequent to submission. It is submitted that 77-31-32, U.C.A. 1953, does not support a contention that the Legislature deemed the case submitted on completion of the charge, but rather the statute merely recognizes that under Utah practice the charge usually is the last act preceding the jury's deliberation.

77-32-1, U.C.A. 1953 seems to recognize that the trial is still in progress until the jury retires for deliberation. 77-32-1-4, U.C.A. 1953, are equally as susceptible to the contention that the case must be submitted by the judge to the jury for deliberation as is 77-31-32, U.C.A. 1953 to the contrary. It is submitted that the Legislature, in 77-31-27, U.C.A. 1953, by using the word "submission," meant that time of the trial that the judge surrenders the matter to the jury's determination. The danger of influence is no greater before commencing deliberation just because the charge has been given than prior thereto. The real danger sought to be avoided is outside influence upon the jury, and after commencement of deliberations, the chance for harm is greatest. As is noted in 21 ALR 2d 1093, "the trend of the decisions is away from a strict and technical approach to the question." Once the jury has entered into deliberations the minds and views of the jurors are expressed, and influence at this time may result in over-emphasis of evidence, or coercion, that could persuade the jury to a result where prior to deliberation they have no dominion over the result, and communications are less susceptible to causing mass coercion or influence. Therefore, it is contended that a case should not be deemed submitted until court

directs the jury to enter into its deliberations. This accords with decisions from other states; thus as was noted in 34 A.L.R. 1210:

“A case is finally submitted to the jury, within the meaning of a statute forbidding their separation when the case is finally submitted, at such time as the court directs the jury to enter upon its deliberations and not necessarily at the conclusion of the charge of the court to them.”

See also 21 ALR 2d 1139; 79 ALR 836.

77-31-27, U.C.A. 1953, allows separation at any time “before the submission of the case to the jury.” In *State v. Ferrell*, 69 Ohio St. 69 N.E. 995 (1903), the Ohio Supreme Court had a case before it similar to the one now before the court. The court, in that case, allowed the jury after receiving the charge, to go for their noon meal. The Ohio Appellate Court found no error. In commenting on an Ohio statute similar to that of Utah, the Ohio Court said:

“We think the natural inference is that it was intended to remove the iron clad rule and leave some discretion in the trial judge as to when he would finally submit the case.”

In *State v. Hendricks*, 32 Kan. 559, 4 Pac. 1050 and *State v. McKinney*, 31 Kan. 570, 3 Pac. 356, the court said it was not error to allow the jury to separate at any time before committed to the custody of the bailiff.

It is admitted that a split of authority exists in this area, 23A CJS, Criminal Law, p. 959, and some authority exists to support appellant's contention. *Page v. State*,

..... Okl. Cr., 332 P.2d 693 (1958). However, it is submitted that only by holding that submission is accomplished upon the court directing the jury to commence deliberations can the trial judge maintain adequate control over the trial, and avoid unforeseen problems that may require additional attention after the charge, but before deliberation.

It is submitted that even if it were deemed error in the instant case to have allowed the jury to separate for lunch, the appellant may not now complain since no objection was raised either by appellant or counsel to the separation. Counsel had full opportunity to object, both before and after separation, but no objection was voiced. In such circumstances as this, the courts have recognized that an accused cannot sit back and acquiesce in the separation and thereafter claim error. Abbott, *Criminal Trial Practice*, 4th Ed., Sec. 691. In Wharton's *Criminal Law and Procedure*, Sec. 2108, it is said:

“Ordinarily the defendant must make prompt objection to the separation or he will be deemed to have waived any objection thereto.”

A substantial amount of authority has recognized the necessity of counsel or the accused to object. 21 ALR 2d 1149. In *Walker v. State*, 71 Ga. App. 38, 29 S.E. 2d 819 (1944), it was held that the defendant's failure to object operated as an implied consent where the jury was allowed to go to lunch after submission.

In *Keith v. Commonwealth*, Ky., 243 S.W. 293 (1922), the Kentucky Court of Appeals had a claim

of error before it where the trial court allowed the jury to separate for the noon meal; in holding the right to complain to have been waived, the court said:

“If appellant had objected to the separation of the jury at the time the court allowed it, or if he had moved the court at any time before verdict for a discharge of the jury, it would have been reversible error to have overruled the objection and motion. Having failed to pursue this course he waived, as he had a right to do, the error.”

Even those jurisdictions that have accepted the rule that a case is submitted after charge, have found that where counsel and the accused sit quietly by and allow the jury to be separated, they have waived any right to complain. Thus, in *Hobson v. State*, 277 P.2d 695 (Okla. Cr. 1954), the court allowed the jury to separate for lunch after beginning their deliberations. The accused and defense counsel remained silent while the trial judge announced his intentions, and the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals found a waiver, noting:

“But in the within case there was no specific waiver entered of record. Could there be a waiver by implication? The record is clear that both counsel for the State and counsel for the defendant were present when the court announced his intention of permitting the jurors to separate and go to their separate places for lunch. No objection was made at the time, as heretofore recited, though there was full opportunity. The matter of permitting the jurors to separate was a matter of procedure, amounting to an irregularity, which must be taken advantage of by exception. It is true that the defendant had the right to have the jury kept together after final submission until

they agreed upon a verdict or were discharged by the court, but the right coming within the classification of those rights that can be waived, as heretofore determined, the defendant and his counsel by failure to raise the question at the time the court announced his intention of permitting the jury to separate, are deemed to have acquiesced, and objections interposed for the first time on a motion for new trial, came too late.”

Nor can appellant claim that he could not object without offending the jury, since a proper objection could have been made out of their hearing. *Martin v. State*, 222 P.2d 534 (Okla. Crim. 1950).

It is submitted that there is no merit to the appellant’s contention of jury misconduct.

POINT III.

NO EVIDENCE OF ENTRAPMENT EXISTS WARRANT- ING REVERSAL.

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